
1  In their complaints and as part of seeking court approval of their settlement agreements, states have specified the

authority pursuant to which they settle and release consumer claims when federal statutory parens patriae authority

under § 4C of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 15c, is not available.  This document updates a document prepared by

the states in support of settlement of In re Lorazepam & Clorazepate Antitrust Litigation, 205 F.R.D. 369, 386-87

(D.D .C. 2002).  Credit goes to  Michelle Rick of the Michigan Attorney General's office for updating this document,

which included coordinating state review.

2  This document categorizes the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico as “states.”

AUTHORITY OF STATE ATTORNEYS
GENERAL TO REPRESENT CONSUMERS1

State2 Attorneys General possess sufficient authority to settle and release “indirect”

purchaser consumer claims in a parens patriae or other representative capacity.  Under Alfred L.

Snapp & Son, Inc. v. Puerto Rico, 458 U.S. 592 (1982), “a State has a quasi-sovereign interest in

the health and well being -- both physical and economic -- of its residents in general.”  Id. at 607.

That general authority for a state is supplemented by state statutory provisions and case law.  This

is a developing area of law in which attorney general authority under state law falls into one of the

following four categories: (i) parens patriae authority expressly conferred by the State legislature,

(ii) authority expressly conferred by the State legislature that is the functional equivalent of parens

patriae authority, (iii) judicially recognized authority to represent consumers, or (iv) authority to

proceed as a class representative of consumers pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23.  In re Lorazepam &

Clorazepate Antitrust Litigation, 205 F.R.D.369, 386-87 (D.D.C. 2002).  In Lorazepam, the Court

explicitly recognized these categories of authority.  The Court further found that as to each of the

State Attorneys General representing consumers in Lorazepam, those State Attorneys General

possessed the following categories of authority:

Fourteen of these states -- California, Colorado, Delaware, the District of Columbia, Hawaii,
Idaho, Massachusetts, Nevada, Ohio, Oregon, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Utah, and West
Virginia -- have expressly conferred parens patriae authority.  Sixteen states -- Alaska,
Arizona, Florida, Illinois, Kansas, Maryland, Mississippi, New Hampshire, New York, North
Carolina, North Dakota, Pennsylvania, Vermont, Virginia, Wisconsin, and Wyoming -- have
express statutory authority to represent consumers in a capacity which is the functional



3  The Attorneys General of Alaska, Arkansas, California, Iowa, Kansas, K entucky, Louisiana, M ississippi,

Montana, Nevada, North Carolina, North Dakota, Ohio, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Texas, Utah, Virginia,

Wisconsin, and Wyoming assert claims on behalf of their consumer residents primarily pursuant to their respective

State’s parens patriae or similar authority and secondarily as a class representative of consumer residents pursuant

to Fed. R. Civ. Proc. 23.

4 Puerto Rico has been added to the list from Lorazepam .
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equivalent of parens patriae.  Thirteen states -- Alabama, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maine,
Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, Montana, New Jersey, New Mexico, Tennessee, Texas, and
Washington -- have had state and/or federal courts interpret statutory provisions to
effectively grant parens patriae authority or have determined that their attorney general has
such authority under state common law.  . . . [E]ight states -- Arkansas, Connecticut,
Georgia, Indiana, Iowa, Nebraska, Oklahoma, and South Carolina -- . . . represent their
respective citizen-consumers pursuant only to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23.

205 F.R.D. at 386-87 (citations omitted).  The underlying bases of the authorities accepted by the

Lorazapam Court are updated and elaborated below.3

State Attorneys General Possessing Parens Patriae Authority Expressly Granted by Their
State Legislature

Legislatures have expressly conferred parens patriae authority upon Attorneys General in

following fourteen (14) States: California, Colorado, Delaware, the District of Columbia, Hawaii,

Idaho, Nevada, Ohio, Oregon, Puerto Rico, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Utah, and West Virginia.4

The Attorney General of California acts pursuant to parens patriae authority contained in

Cal. Bus. and Prof. Code § 16760 (West 1997). This statutory provision grants the California

Attorney General authority to maintain parens patriae actions on behalf of California residents, and

contain similar provisions to the federal parens patriae statute, 15 U.S.C. § 15c, regarding notice,

opportunity to elect exclusion from representation, and res judicata effect.

The Attorney General of Colorado acts pursuant to Col. Rev. Stat. § 6-4-111 (2000). This

statutory provision grants the Colorado Attorney General authority to maintain parens patriae

actions on behalf of Colorado residents, and contain similar provisions to the federal parens patriae
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statute, 15 U.S.C. § 15c, regarding notice and opportunity of parens group members to elect

exclusion from representation. This statutory provision further vests the Colorado Attorney General

with equitable authority to represent, settle, and release claims of Colorado’s consumer citizens.

The Attorney General of Delaware acts pursuant to Delaware Code Ann. § 2108 (1993).

This statutory provision grants the Delaware Attorney General authority to maintain parens patriae

actions on behalf of Delaware residents, and contain similar provisions to the federal parens patriae

statute, 15 U.S.C. § 15c,  regarding notice, opportunity of parens group members to elect exclusion

from representation, and res judicata effect.

The Corporation Counsel of the District of Columbia acts pursuant to D.C. Official Code

§ 28-4507(b) (2001).  This provision grants the Corporation Counsel the authority to maintain

parens patriae antitrust actions for damages on behalf of residents of the District of Columbia.  Like

parens patriae action brought under federal antitrust law, 15 U.S.C. § 15c, an action brought under

§ 28-4507(b) requires that notice be given by publication and that persons on whose behalf the

action has been brought be given an opportunity to exclude their claims from adjudication.  D.C.

Official Code § 28-4507(c).

The Attorney General of Hawaii acts pursuant to Hawaii Rev. Stat. § 480-14(c) (1998).  This

statutory provision grants the Hawaii Attorney General authority to maintain parens patriae actions

on behalf of natural persons residing in the State.

The Attorney General of Idaho acts pursuant to Idaho Code §§ 48-108(2) through (4) (2000).

These statutory provisions grant the Idaho Attorney General authority to maintain parens patriae

actions on behalf of Idaho residents, and contain similar provisions to the federal parens patriae

statute, 15 U.S.C. § 15c,  regarding notice, opportunity of parens group members to elect exclusion

from representation, and res judicata effect.
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The Attorney General of Nevada acts pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 598A.160(1) (1999).

This statutory provision grants the Nevada Attorney General the authority to maintain an action as

parens patriae on behalf of Nevada residents for alleged violations of antitrust law, and contain

similar provisions to the federal parens patriae statute, 15 U.S.C. § 15c, regarding notice,

opportunity of parens group members to elect exclusion from representation, and res judicata effect.

The Attorney General of Ohio acts pursuant to Ohio Rev. Code Ann. § 109.81(A) (Anderson

1998).  This statutory provision authorizes the Ohio Attorney General to maintain an action as

parens patriae for citizens of Ohio, and further provides that he or she “shall do all things necessary

to properly conduct any antitrust case in which he [or she] acts as attorney at law, including the

bringing of an action for equitable relief or for the recovery of damages.” Id. 

The Attorney General of Oregon acts pursuant to Or. Rev. Stat. § 646.775.  This statutory

provision grants the Oregon Attorney General authority to maintain parens patriae actions on behalf

of Oregon residents for alleged violations of antitrust law, and contain similar provisions to the

federal parens patriae statute, 15 U.S.C. § 15c, regarding notice, opportunity of parens group

members to elect exclusion from representation, and res judicata effect.

The Secretary of Justice of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico acts pursuant to P.R. Laws

Ann. tit. 32, §§ 3341-3344.  These statutory provisions grant the Secretary of Justice parens patriae

authority to file suit on behalf of consumers of goods and services and/or on behalf of the

Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, through its agencies, dependencies, and instrumentalities.  The law

contains provisions regarding notice, opportunity of parens group members to elect exclusion from

representation, and res judicata effect.

The Attorney General of Rhode Island acts pursuant to R.I. Gen. Laws § 6-36-12 (1992).

This statutory provision grants the Rhode Island Attorney General authority to maintain parens
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patriae actions on behalf of Rhode Island residents, and contain similar provisions to the federal

parens patriae statute, 15 U.S.C. § 15c,  regarding notice, opportunity of parens group members to

elect exclusion from representation, and res judicata effect.

The Attorney General of South Dakota acts pursuant to S.D. Codified Laws Ann. §§ 37-1-

23 through 32 (2000).  These statutory provisions grant the South Dakota Attorney General authority

to maintain parens patriae actions on behalf of South Dakota residents, and contain similar

provisions to the federal parens patriae statute, 15 U.S.C. § 15c, regarding notice, opportunity of

parens group members to elect exclusion from representation, and res judicata effect.

The Attorney General of Utah acts pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §§ 76-10-916 and 76-10-918

(1997), which grant the Utah Attorney General authority to proceed as parens patriae on behalf of

natural persons in Utah. 

The Attorney General of West Virginia acts pursuant to W. Va. Code § 47-18-17 (1996).

This statutory provision grants the West Virginia Attorney General authority to maintain parens

patriae actions on behalf of West Virginia residents, and contain similar provisions to the federal

parens patriae statute, 15 U.S.C. § 15c,  regarding notice, opportunity of parens group members to

elect exclusion from representation, and res judicata effect.

State Attorneys General Possessing Statutory Authority to Represent Consumers
Equivalent or Comparable to Parens Patriae Authority

Attorneys General in seventeen (17) States have express statutory authority to represent

consumers in a capacity that is the functional equivalent of parens patriae authority.  As such, the

ability of these State Attorneys General to proceed on behalf of consumers effectively operates as



5
 Iowa has joined the list on Lorazepem.  
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parens patriae authority.  These seventeen states are Alaska, Arizona, Florida, Illinois, Iowa,5

Kansas, Maryland, Mississippi, New Hampshire, New York, North Carolina, North Dakota,

Pennsylvania, Vermont, Virginia, Wisconsin, and Wyoming.

The Attorney General of Alaska acts pursuant to Alaska Stat. §§ 45.50.501(a) and (b); and

45.50.580(a) and (b). These statutory provisions grant the Alaska Attorney General authority to

bring an action to enjoin a violation of Alaska’s consumer protection and antitrust laws, and further

provide that courts may make orders necessary to restore money or property to persons injured,

when such money or property was acquired by a violation of Alaska’s consumer protection and/or

antitrust laws.  See id.  These statutes effectively grant Alaska's Attorney General the authority to

maintain a parens patriae action on behalf of Alaska residents. 

The Attorney General of Arizona acts pursuant to authority contained in Ariz. Rev. Stat.

Ann. § 44-1407 (West 1994) and pursuant to art. XIV § 15 of the Arizona Constitution, which

specifically forbids direct or indirect efforts to fix prices.  Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 44-1407 grants

the Arizona Attorney General authority to bring actions in the name of the State for equitable relief

and/or civil penalties.  The State of Arizona also acts pursuant to common law parens patriae

authority for the benefit of its citizens.  See In Re Maricopa Co., Cause No. MH-90-00566, 840 P.2d

1042, 1047 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1992) ("state is vested with parens patriae power" and "[t]he state

clearly has a legitimate interest in protecting its citizens from harm") (citation omitted).  Courts have

long recognized the Arizona Attorney General's specific right to bring antitrust actions as parens

patriae for Arizona consumers.  See In re Insurance Antitrust Litigation, 938 F.2d 919, 927 (9th Cir.

1991) (reversing the dismissal of Arizona's and other states' claims and holding that "the state's
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interest in preventing harm to its citizens by antitrust violations is, indeed, a prime instance of the

interest that the parens patriae can vindicate by obtaining damages and/or an injunction"); Standard

Oil Co. of California v. Arizona. et al., 738 F.2d 1021, 1022, 1030-31 (9th Cir. 1984).

The Attorney General of Florida acts pursuant to Fla. Stat. Ann. § 501.207, the Florida

Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act (FDUTPA).  A federal court expressly confirmed that

Florida may seek damages for indirect purchasers, i.e., consumers, under this provision.  See FTC

v. Mylan Lab., 62 F. Supp. 2d 25 45 (D.D.C.1999) (citing Mack v. Bristol-Myers Squibb Co., 673

So.2d 100 (Fla. 1st D.C.A. 1996), review dismissed, 689 So.2d 1068 (Fla. 1997)).  Additionally, that

court determined that the Attorney General of Florida has the authority to seek restitution, among

other relief, on behalf of both direct and indirect purchasers under FDUTPA.  See FTC v. Mylan

Lab., 99 F. Supp. 2d 1, 6 (D.D.C. 1999).  This statutory provision effectively grants parens patriae

authority or the equivalent of parens patriae authority to the Attorney General on behalf of Florida

citizens.  See In re Lorazapam & Clorazapate Antitrust Litigation, 205 F.R.D. 369, 386 (D.D.C.

2002).

The Attorney General of Illinois acts pursuant to 740 Ill. Comp. Stat. § 10/7(2) (West 1993).

This statutory provision authorizes the Illinois Attorney General, and only the Attorney General, to

maintain a class action on behalf of indirect purchasers.   Moreover, the Appellate Court of Illinois

has recognized the authority of the Attorney General in this regard in Gaebler v. New Mexico Potash

Corp., 676 N.E.2d 228 (Ill. App. 1997), and Bobrowicz v. City of Chicago, 522 N.E.2d 663 (Ill. App.

1988).  Therefore, the Illinois Attorney General may properly conduct a lawsuit as parens patriae

on behalf of Illinois residents.

The Attorney General of Iowa acts pursuant to Iowa Code § 714.16(7). This statutory

provision grants the Iowa Attorney General authority to bring an action to enjoin a violation of
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Iowa’s consumer protection laws, and further provides that courts may make orders necessary to

restore money or property to persons injured, when such money or property was acquired by a

violation of Iowa’s consumer protection laws.  See id.  The Attorney General of Iowa contends that

this statute grants him authority effectively equivalent to that found in an explicit parens patriae

statute and authorizes him to bring an action to vindicate the interests of Iowa citizens.

The Attorney General of Kansas acts pursuant to Kansas Stat. Ann. § 50-103(a)(8) and

Kansas Stat. Ann. S. A. 50-148(b).  These statutory provisions grant the Kansas Attorney General

authority to maintain actions for the recovery of actual damages on behalf of any person or persons

due to an antitrust violation.  Such statutory authority effectively grants the Kansas Attorney General

parens patriae authority.

The Attorney General of Maryland represents consumers in this action pursuant to Md.

Com. Law Code Ann., § 11-209, which authorizes the Attorney General to institute proceedings in

equity to prevent or restrain violations of the Maryland Antitrust Act.  Because the Maryland

Attorney General is statutorily authorized to represent consumers in equity, he may seek restitution

on behalf of “any person” to recover overcharges resulting from antitrust violations, regardless of

whether the injured consumers are a direct or indirect purchasers, because consumers do not have

the power to assert these claims.  Accordingly, because the Attorney General is the only party who

can bring an indirect purchaser action on behalf of consumers, the Attorney General is also the only

party who may settle and release those claims.  See New York v. Feldman, 210 F. Supp. 2d 294, 303-

05 (S.D.N.Y. 2002) (permitting Maryland  Attorneys General to recover for purchasers harmed by

antitrust violations in Maryland).  The Attorney General has an implicit duty to afford consumers

due process in the release of consumer claims.  See Md. Const. Law Code Ann., Art. 24, Declaration

of Rights.
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The Attorney General of Mississippi acts pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §§ 7-5-1 et seq., 75-

21-37, 75-21-39, and 75-24-1 et seq. (1991). § 75-21-37 allows the Mississippi Attorney General

and Mississippi District Attorneys, upon request of the Attorney General, to maintain actions “by

and in the name of the State of Mississippi” to enforce the antitrust laws.  See id. Furthermore, § 75-

21-39 mandates, inter alia, that Mississippi’s antitrust law “be liberally construed in all courts to

the end that trusts and combines may be suppressed, and the benefits arising from competition in

business be preserved to the people of [Mississippi].”

The Mississippi Attorney General has initiated lawsuits as parens patriae on behalf of

Mississippi consumers. In Moore ex rel. State of Mississippi v. Abbott Labs., 900 F. Supp. 26 (S.D.

Miss. 1995), the Mississippi Attorney General filed suit in a parens patriae capacity in Mississippi

State court. The Mississippi Attorney General contends that he or she is authorized to represent the

State’s consumers in such a way, especially in light of Miss. Code Ann. § 75-21-39, calling for a

liberal interpretation of the State’s antitrust statutes. Allowing the Attorney General to maintain a

lawsuit to recover damages caused by alleged antitrust violations on behalf Mississippi consumers

would ensure “that trusts and combines [are] suppressed, and [that] the benefits arising from

competition in business [are] preserved…." to Mississippi citizens. See id. Such an interpretation

as mandated by the statute would encompass the authority of the Mississippi Attorney General to

proceed as parens patriae on behalf of the State’s consumers.

The Attorney General of New Hampshire acts pursuant to N. H. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§ 356:4-a,

b, and c (1995). These provisions allow the New Hampshire Attorney General to bring an action in

the name of the State seeking injunctive relief and civil penalties for alleged violations of State

antitrust laws.  Furthermore, N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 21-M:2 vests the Attorney General with “all the

powers and duties enumerated by statute and implied from the common law” and further provides



6 See Texas v. Scott & Fetzer & Co., 709 F.2d 1024, 1026 (5th Cir. 1983) (construing Texas
Business and Commerce Code § 15.40, which authorized the Attorney General to sue on behalf
of “the state or of any of its political subdivisions”); Pennsylvania v. Mid-Atlantic Distributors,
Inc., 704 F.2d 125, 130 (4th Cir. 1983)(construing: (a) the Maryland State Constitution, which
provided that the Attorney General “shall commence, and prosecute . . . any civil . . . action . . .
on the part of the State or in which the State may be interested”; and (b) the D.C. Code, which
provided that its Corporation Counsel shall “have charge and conduct of all law business”);

Louisiana v. Borden, Inc., 1995 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1921  (E.D. La. 1995) (construing the
Louisiana State Constitution, which authorized the Attorney General "to institute, prosecute, or
intervene in any civil action or proceedings").
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that the Attorney General is responsible for “[e]nforcing the various consumer protection and

antitrust laws of the state.” The Attorney General of New Hampshire submits that the foregoing

legislative authority is adequately broad to encompass a parens patriae action on behalf of the

State’s residents.

The Attorney General of New York acts pursuant to various statutes, including N.Y. Exec.

Law §§ 63(1) and  63(12) (McKinney’s 1994), N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law §§ 340, 342 (McKinney’s

1999), and N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 349 (McKinney’s 1988).  Section 63(1), in pertinent part,

empowers the Attorney General to “[p]rosecute and defend all actions and proceedings in which the

state is interested.”  Courts have construed comparable statutory provisions to permit Attorneys

General to bring treble-damage antitrust actions, as parens patriae, on behalf of consumers.6

Moreover, the New York Attorney General contends that it may seek treble damages for consumers

under section 340, New York’s antitrust statute.  That right is implicit in N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law §§

340.5, 340.6, 342, and the common law of parens patriae.  In addition, Section 63(12) provides that

the New York Attorney General may seek “in the name of the people of the state of New York . .

. restitution and damages,” from persons engaged in repeated or persistent “fraudulent or illegal”

acts.  The Lorazepam court cited § 63(12) as providing the New York Attorney General with the

functional equivalent of parens patriae authority in an antitrust context under New York law.  205
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F.R.D. at 387.  The “illegal” acts for which the New York Attorney General can seek restitution and

damages under section 63(12) include antitrust violations, and the New York Attorney General can

recover restitution and damages for non-New Yorkers under  § 63(12).  New York v. Feldman, 210

F. Supp. 2d 294, 299-300, 302-03 (S.D.N.Y. 2002).  The Feldman court similarly upheld the

Attorney General’s claim for restitution under section 349, New York’s deceptive practices statute.

See id. at 300-03.

The Attorney General of North Carolina acts pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 114-2(8)(a)

(1994 & Supp. 1997).  This statutory provision grants the North Carolina Attorney General authority

to proceed, in his or her discretion, before any court in a representative capacity on behalf of the

consuming public of North Carolina.  See id.  In addition, N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 75-9 through 75-16.1

authorize the Attorney General to investigate and prosecute violations of State antitrust and

deceptive practices laws on behalf of the consuming public.  See id.  Such broad grants of statutory

authority can be interpreted to encompass a parens patriae action on behalf of North Carolina

residents.

The Attorney General of North Dakota acts pursuant to N. D. Cent. Code § 51-08.1-07.

This statutory provision authorizes suits by the North Dakota Attorney General in the name of the

State for injunctive relief and civil penalties. The North Dakota Attorney General submits that the

instant lawsuit on behalf of North Dakota consumers is a proper exercise of the Attorney General's

authority under North Dakota law. 

The Attorney General of Pennsylvania acts pursuant to the Pennsylvania Commonwealth

Attorneys Act, 71 Pa. Cons. Stat. Ann. § 732-204(c) (West 1989).  That statute provides that “[t]he

Attorney General shall represent the Commonwealth and its citizens in any action brought for

violation of the antitrust laws of the United States and the Commonwealth.” Id. Thus, when
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Pennsylvania alleges that parties have violated the Commonwealth’s common law prohibitions

against restraint of trade and unjust enrichment, the Attorney General is authorized to proceed as

parens patriae on behalf of Pennsylvania residents by virtue of the foregoing statute.

The Attorney General of Vermont acts pursuant to Vt. Stat. Ann. title 9, § 2458(b)(2)

(1993). This statutory provision allows the Vermont Attorney General to bring an action on behalf

of the State against alleged antitrust violators. The statute further provides that the Vermont

Attorney General may request a court to render any appropriate equitable relief, including but not

limited to restitution of money to injured consumers.  See id. Additionally, the United States District

Court for the District of Vermont, although not squarely addressing the Attorney General’s parens

patriae authority under state law, recognized the ability of the Vermont Attorney General to act as

parens patriae in Vermont v. Densmore Brick Co., 1980-2 Trade Cas.(CCH) ¶ 63, 347, 1980 WL

1846 (D. Vt. 1980).  Furthermore, the Supreme Court of Vermont in State v. Custom Pools, 556

A.2d 72 (Vt. 1988), held that Vermont’s Consumer Fraud Act is to be liberally construed “so as to

furnish all the remedy and accomplish all the purposes intended.”  Id. at 74. In light of the foregoing

statutory and decisional authority, the Vermont Attorney General is authorized to proceed on behalf

of injured consumers as parens patriae under State law.

The Attorney General of the Commonwealth of Virginia acts pursuant to Va. Code Ann. §§

59.1-9.15(a) through (d) (Michie 1988). These provisions, among other things, grant the Virginia

Attorney General authority to institute actions for injunctive relief and civil penalties for violations

of the Virginia Antitrust Act (the “Act”).  Id. at (a).  They also authorize the Attorney General to

bring actions seeking damages on behalf of State agencies, and to bring other actions “to recover

damages and secure other relief . . . as parens patriae respecting injury to the general economy of

the Commonwealth."  Id. at (b) and (d). Thus the Virginia Attorney General acts on behalf of the
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Commonwealth, and will compensate State agencies and Virginia citizens for damages caused by

the alleged antitrust violations. The Virginia Attorney General submits that this grant of statutory

authority encompasses bringing a parens patriae action on behalf of Virginia residents.

Moreover, a separate provision of the Act, Va. Code Ann. § 59.1-9.17 (Michie 1998),

provides that the Act shall “be applied and construed to effectuate its general purposes in harmony

with judicial interpretation of comparable federal statutory provisions.” Because state attorneys

general are vested with parens patriae authority to act on behalf of their consumers under federal

law, the Virginia Attorney General maintains that Virginia law implicitly incorporates parens

patriae authority to act on behalf of Virginia consumers through this provision as well.

The Attorney General of Wisconsin acts pursuant to Wis. Stat. Ann. §§ 133.16 and

133.17(1), granting the Wisconsin Attorney General broad authority to initiate antitrust cases.

Specifically, § 133.16 allows the Wisconsin Department of Justice to maintain actions designed to

prevent further violations of State antitrust law, and § 133.17(l) provides that the Wisconsin

Department of Justice “shall institute, control, manage, and direct all prosecutions for a violation

of this chapter.” Because the Wisconsin legislature has conferred such broad powers upon the

Attorney General to initiate proceedings aimed at enforcing the State’s antitrust laws, the Wisconsin

Attorney General has parens patriae authority under State law.

The Attorney General of the State of Wyoming acts pursuant to Wy. Stat. §§ 40-12-106 and

40-12-107 (Lexis 1999). These statutory provisions grant the Wyoming Attorney General authority

to bring an action to enjoin trade practices unlawful pursuant to Wy. Stat. Ann. § 40-12-105, and

further provide that the presiding court may make such additional orders or judgments as are

necessary to compensate identifiable persons for actual damages or restoration of money or property,

real or personal, that may have been acquired by means or any act or practice restrained. The
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Wyoming Attorney General contends that her authority to bring an action for an injunction and to

recover on behalf of identifiable persons gives her the functional equivalent of parens patriae

authority to maintain the present action on behalf of the citizens of Wyoming.

State Attorneys General Possessing Judicially Recognized Parens Patriae Authority

In fourteen (14) States--Alabama, Arkansas,7 Kentucky, Louisiana, Maine, Michigan,

Minnesota, Missouri, Montana, New Jersey, New Mexico, Tennessee, Texas, and Washington--

state and/or federal courts have either interpreted statutory provisions to grant effectively  parens

patriae authority to the Attorney General, or have determined that the particular State Attorney

General possesses parens patriae authority, or its functional equivalent, as a matter of State common

law (or civil law in the case of Louisiana).  

The Attorney General of Alabama acts pursuant to authority recognized by the Alabama

Supreme Court in Weaver v. Blue Cross and Blue Shield, 570 So.2d 675 (Ala. Sup. Ct. 1990).  The

court noted: “overwhelming authority supports [the conclusion] that the attorney general has the

power to manage and control all litigation on behalf of the State of Alabama.” 570 So.2d at 684.

In addressing the historical duties of the office of attorney general, the court recognized that:

[m]ost courts have given the attorney general ‘a broad discretion in determining what
matters may, or may not, be of interest to the people generally.’ The investment of such
discretion is based on the premise that the attorney general should act on behalf of the public
interest, or as the ‘people’s attorney.'

Id. at 677 (quoting Note, Tice v. Department of Transportation: A Declining Role for the Attorney

General? 63 N.C. L. R. 1051, 1053-54 (1985) (footnotes omitted)).  Because Alabama’s Supreme

Court intimates that the Attorney General has such broad discretion to vindicate the public interest



8 The Alabama Supreme Court cases of State ex rel. Carmichael v. Bibb, 173 So. 74 (Ala. Sup. Ct. 1937) and Davis

ex rel. First Baptist Church v. Stokes, 107 So. 76 (Ala. Sup. Ct. 1926), where the court refused to recognize parens

patriae authority of the Alabama Attorney General with respect to charitable trusts, are not applicable to the case sub

judice.  Vindication of the people’s rights to be free from the effects of antitrust violations is the type of action

contemplated by the Alabama Supreme Court’s Weaver decision.

15

as “the people’s attorney,” the Alabama Attorney General submits that his or her powers under State

law are broad enough to include a parens patriae action on behalf of consumers harmed by an

antitrust violation.8

The Attorney General for the State of Arkansas acts pursuant to the parens patriae authority

judicially recognized in Arkansas v. Snow, 324 S.W.2d 532, 534 (1959).

The Attorney General of Kentucky acts pursuant to Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 367.200 (Banks-

Baldwin 1996). The Mylan Court acknowledged that this statutory provision gives Kentucky

authority to bring a claim for restitution on behalf of indirect purchasers. See F.T.C.  v. Mylan Lab.,

99 F. Supp. 2d 1, 6 (D.D.C. 1999) (citing Commonwealth of Kentucky ex rel. Beshear v. ABAC Pest

Control, Inc., 621 S.W.2d 705 (Ky. App. 1981)). Furthermore, the Supreme Court of Kentucky has

held that Kentucky consumers are entitled to any and all protection that may be granted under their

State’s law. In Stevens v. Motorists Mutual Insurance Co., 759 S.W.2d 819 (1988), the Court

addressed the question of whether the purchase of an insurance policy was a purchase of “goods or

services,” and therefore covered by the Kentucky Consumer Protection Act.  In answering this

question in the affirmative, the Court stated:

 [Our] examination and analysis of the various cases indicates clearly that the
Kentucky legislature created a statute which has the broadest application in order to
give Kentucky consumers the broadest possible protection for allegedly illegal acts.
In addition, KRS 446.080 requires that the statutes of this Commonwealth are to be
liberally construed.

Id. at 821.

In addition, a Kentucky Court of Appeals decision acknowledged the broad powers of the
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Kentucky Attorney General in Commonwealth v. Anthem Ins. Co., 8 S.W.3d 48 (Ky. App. 1999).

In commenting on the relaxed standards afforded the Kentucky Attorney General (and only the

Attorney General) when seeking an injunction to prevent unfair trade practices, the court noted that

the Kentucky legislature intended:

[T]hat the Consumer Protection Act, in the hands of the Attorney General, be a
flexible and effective means of combating abusive trade practices however novel
their forms or well disguised their sources. Denying the Attorney General an
opportunity to develop the case he has alleged against [the defendants] would
frustrate that intent.

Id. at 55.  Because Kentucky courts have determined that their Consumer Protection Act is to be

liberally construed for consumers’ benefit, and because the Attorney General is vested with broad

discretion to act on consumers’ behalf, the Kentucky Attorney General is authorized to proceed as

parens patriae on behalf of consumers under Kentucky law.

The Attorney General of Louisiana acts pursuant to parens patriae authority.  Parens

patriae, literally “parent of the country,” is the concept of “standing,” utilized to protect quasi-

sovereign interests such as the general economy and consumers of the state.  The Louisiana Attorney

General has parens patriae authority to bring antitrust actions on behalf of state citizens.  State v.

Bordens, Inc., 684 So.2d 1024 (La. App. 4th Cir. 1996); Louisiana v. Borden, Inc., 1995 U.S. Dist.

LEXIS 1921, 1995 W.L. 5948 (E.D. La. 1995).  Louisiana’s Legislature has enacted certain

regulations concerning commerce in Louisiana (La. R.S. 51:121 et seq. and La. 51:1401, et seq.,)

and has directly empowered the Attorney General to enforce those laws both criminally and civilly,

and to seek redress against violators on behalf of both the state and private parties.  State v. Classic

Soft Trim, Inc., 663 So.2d 835 (La. App. 5th Cir. 1995).  The Attorney General has procedural

capacity to bring suit alleging violation of the state’s antitrust and unfair trade practices laws.  La.

R.S. 51:128, 138, 1407, 1408.  Louisiana’s antitrust and unfair trade practices laws are sui generis
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statutes regulating monopolies and restraints of trade of commerce in Louisiana.  State v. Brunswick

Bowling and Billiards Dover, Inc., 665 So. 2d 520 (La. App. 5th Cir. 1995).

The Attorney General of Maine acts pursuant to 5 Me. Rev. Stat. Ann §§ 207, 209, and the

authority recognized by the Supreme Judicial Court of Maine in Lund ex rel. Wilbur v. Pratt, 308

A.2d 554 (Me.1973).  In Wilbur, the court held that absent express legislative restrictions upon the

Maine Attorney General’s authority, he or she has broad powers to vindicate the public interest. See

Wilbur at 558.  In addition, the Maine legislature has granted the Attorney General the functional

equivalent of parens patriae authority by enacting 5 Me. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 209.  This statute vests

the Attorney General with authority to initiate proceedings on behalf of the State to enjoin unfair

methods of competition, and further provides that courts may order monies or property to be restored

to injured persons. See id.  In light of the foregoing statutory and decisional authority, the Maine

Attorney General is authorized proceed as parens patriae on behalf of the State’s citizen consumers.

The Attorney General of Michigan acts pursuant to parens patriae authority recognized by

the Circuit Court of Michigan for Wayne County in State  v. Detroit Lumberman's Association,

1979-2 Trade Cas. (CCH) ¶ 62,990, 1979 WL 18703 (Mich. Cir. Ct. 1979). There, the Court held

that “[i]t is a matter of public policy to prosecute antitrust violators, and to compensate the public

for damages sustained thereby,” and that the State of Michigan could proceed “as parens patriae

on behalf of its citizens.” See id. at *6. The Michigan Attorney General’s authority to represent

consumers under the Michigan Consumer Protection Act has also been judicially recognized in

Kelley v. Carr, 442 F. Supp. 346, 356-57 (E.D. Mich. 1977) and Kelley v. Sciater, 40 B.R. 594, 596-

97 (Bkrcy. E.D. Mich. 1984).  Finally, Michigan relies upon the statutory authorization of the

Attorney General who is empowered to intervene in any action ‘in order to protect any right or

interest of the state, or of the people of the State.” Mich. Comp. Laws Ann. § 14.101 (emphasis



18

added).

Moreover, the Michigan Supreme Court issued an opinion In Re Certified Question, 638

N.W.2d 409 (Mich. 2002), finding in an antitrust and unjust enrichment action that the Michigan

Attorney General's "most basic purpose" is to litigate "matters on behalf of the people of the state."

The Attorney General of Minnesota acts pursuant to parens patriae authority recognized

by the Federal Court in Minnesota v. Standard Oil Co., 568 F. Supp. 556, 563 (D. Minn. 1983), and

by the Minnesota Court of Appeals in State by Humphrey v. Ri-MEL, Inc., 417 N.W.2d 102, 112

(Minn. Ct. App. 1988).  In Ri-MEL, the court held that even in the absence of express statutory

authority, the Minnesota Attorney General possessed authority to maintain an action for restitution

on behalf of injured consumers “under his broad common law powers and the doctrine of parens

patriae.” 417 N.W.2d at 111-112; Syllabus at ¶ 6.  See State by Humphrey v. Alpine Air Products,

Inc., 490 N.W.2d 888, 898 (Mn. Ct. App. 1992), affd, 500 N.W.2d 788 (Minn. 1993).

The Attorney General of Missouri acts pursuant to authority embodied in Mo. Rev. Stat. §§

27.060 and 416.061 (1994), and parens patriae authority recognized by the Supreme Court of

Missouri in Clark Oil & Ref Corp. v. Ashcroft, 639 S.W.2d 594, 596 (Mo. 1982) (en banc).  In Clark

Oil, the Supreme Court of Missouri held that the Missouri Attorney General had authority to

maintain a parens patriae action on behalf of injured consumers under the federal antitrust laws.

Although it did not pass upon the question of whether the Missouri Attorney General had the same

authority under State law, the court characterized a parens patriae action as “an action on behalf of

the state, in which the attorney general seeks to vindicate the rights of all Missouri citizens injured

by actions in restraint of trade.” See id. at 596. (emphasis added).  Because Mo. Rev. Stat. § 27.060

grants the Missouri Attorney General the authority to instigate all civil suits on behalf of the State

in any court, the Clark Oil decision would be interpreted to grant the Missouri Attorney General
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authority to maintain a parens patriae action on behalf injured consumers under Missouri law.

The Attorney General of  Montana acts pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 30-14-222(1)

(1998). This statutory provision allows the Montana Attorney General to maintain an action for the

recovery of damages under State antitrust law. Furthermore, in State ex rel. Olsen v. Public Service

Comm‘n, 283 P.2d 594 (1955), the Supreme Court of Montana acknowledged the broad common

law powers of the Montana Attorney General to “represent[] the public and. . .bring all proper suits

to protect its rights.”  See id. at 599 (quoting S. Am. Jur., Attorney General, § 8, p. 238).  The

Montana Attorney General, therefore, is authorized to act as parens patriae on behalf of Montana

residents.

The Attorney General of New Jersey acts pursuant to authority contained in N.J. Stat. Ann.

§§ 56:9-12.b (West 1970).  This statute provides, inter alia, that the New Jersey Attorney General

may institute an action on behalf of the State “to recover the damages provided for by this section

and by any comparable provisions of federal law.”  Id.  Furthermore, New Jersey case law provides

that the New Jersey Attorney General has broad powers to vindicate the public interest.   In O'Regan

v. Schermerhorn, 50 A.2d 10 (N.J. Sup. Ct. 1946), the Supreme Court of New Jersey, Hudson

County, stated that the New Jersey Attorney General “is invested with a broad discretion in

determining what matters may be of interest to the public.”  Id. at 15.   The court stated  that the

New Jersey Attorney General possesses “common law authority to attend to all legal matters in

which the people of the state are interested.” Id.  These propositions were reaffirmed by the Superior

Court of New Jersey, Chancery Division in Hyland v. Kirkman, 385 A.2d 284 (N.J. Super. 1978).

There, the court, relying in part on the O‘Regan decision, held that when the New Jersey Attorney

General determines that a matter is in the public interest, such a determination is “strongly

persuasive.” See id. at 290.  In light of the above-referenced statutory authority and judicial



20

pronouncements regarding his or her authority, the New Jersey Attorney General submits that such

authority is adequately broad to encompass a parens patriae action on behalf of the State’s

consumers.

The Attorney General of New Mexico acts pursuant to the authority found in N.M. Stat. Ann.

§ 8-5-2 (Michie 1998), N.M. Stat. Ann. §§ 57-1-7 and 57-1-8 (Michie 2000), and the authority

recognized by the United States District Court for the District of New Mexico in New Mexico, as

Parens Patriae v. Scott & Fetzer Co., 1981-2 Trade Cas. ¶ 64,439, 1981 WL 2167 (D.N.M. 1981)

and, recently, in the Lorazepam & Clorazepate Antitrust Litigation, 205 F.R.D. 369, 386 (D.D.C.

2002).  In the Fetzer case, the New Mexico Attorney General brought an antitrust action against

Scott & Fetzer Co., a distributor of Kirby vacuum cleaners. The court determined that “it is within

the Attorney General’s discretion to bring a suit on behalf of the State for the purpose of vindicating

the rights of New Mexico citizens whether those rights are born of federal or state law.” Id. at *1

(emphasis added).   The court in Scott & Fetzer based its decision in part on N.M. Stat. Ann. § 8-5-2,

giving the New Mexico Attorney General broad authority to vindicate the public interests, and

specifically, to “appear before local, state, and federal courts to represent and be heard on behalf of

the state when, in his [or her] judgment, the public interest of the state requires such action   N.M.

Stat. Ann. § 8-5-2(J).  This grant of statutory authority is sufficiently broad to encompass a parens

patriae action on behalf of New Mexico citizens under State law.

The Attorney General of Tennessee acts pursuant to statutory authority contained in Tenn.

Code Ann. § 8-6-109(b)(1).  The superiority of the Attorney General’s representation of individuals

as parens patriae was recognized in Sage v. Appalachian Oil Co., 1994-2 Trade Cas. (CCH) ¶

70,745, 1994 WL 637443 (E.D. Tenn.1994).  In that case, the court denied a motion for certification

of a class of natural persons because of the superior parens representation provided by the
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Tennessee Attorney General.  In competing assertions of representation of businesses as a class by

private counsel and the Attorney General, the court denied the class and provided the defendants an

opportunity to object to the Attorney General’s motion to represent those businesses as a class,

reasoning that a state “should be the preferred representative of a class of all persons, including non-

natural persons such as business entities.”  1994-2 Trade Cas. at 73,127.

The Attorney General of Texas acts pursuant to statutory authority embodied in Tex. Bus.

& Comm. Code Ann. § 15.20 (West 1987). This provision allows the Texas Attorney General to

maintain an action “on behalf of the State of Texas” for an alleged violation of Texas antitrust law.

See id. at (a). Subsection (d) further provides that “[n]othing in this section shall be construed to

limit the constitutional or common law authority of the Attorney General to bring actions under state

and federal law.”

In Abbott Labs. v. Segura, 907 S.W.2d 503 (Tex. 1995), the Supreme Court of Texas

recognized that Texas antitrust law must be “harmonized with federal antitrust law.” Id. at 505

(citing Tex. Bus. & Comm. Code Ann. § 15.04).  Moreover, at least one federal case has held that

Texas law authorizes the Attorney General to maintain parens patriae lawsuits for violations of

federal antitrust laws.  See Texas v. Scott & Fetzer Co., 709 F.2d 1024 (5th Cir. 1983). There, the

United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit, relying on decisions from the United States

Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit, see  Pennsylvania v. Mid-Atlantic Toyota Distributors, Inc.,

704 F.2d 125 (4th Cir. 1983) and the Supreme Court of Missouri, see Clark Oil, B Ref. Corp. v.

Ashcroft, 639 S.W.2d 594, 596 (Mo. 1982) characterized a parens patriae action as “an action on

behalf of the state in which the attorney general seeks to vindicate the rights of [the State’s] citizens

injured by alleged actions in restraint of trade.” 709 F.2d at 1027.

Finally, a Texas Court of Appeals decision has recognized that parens patriae actions for
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damages are allowed in cases involving “occasionally small overcharges against the entire populace

of the state and restitution for consumer fraud.” See Bachnysky v. State, 747 S.W.2d 868, 870 (Tex.

Ct. App. 1988) (footnotes omitted).  Such reasoning strongly suggests that Texas courts are likely

observe that the authority of the Texas Attorney General includes the bringing of a parens patriae

action on behalf of the State’s consumers.

In light of the foregoing statutory and decisional authority, the Attorney General of Texas

maintains he has authority to vindicate Texas citizens’ rights by virtue of a parens patriae lawsuit.

Such a conclusion logically flows from the Texas State legislature’s mandate that Texas antitrust

law be harmonized with federal antitrust law (where State Attorneys General are vested with parens

patriae authority), and the additional legislative mandate that calls for a broad construction of the

Texas Attorney General’s authority to initiate antitrust proceedings. See Tex. Bus. & Comm. Code

Ann. §§ 15.04, 15.20(d).

The Attorney General of the State of Washington acts pursuant to her common law authority

to bring a parens patriae action under Washington State’s antitrust laws. The Court of Appeals for

the Ninth Circuit has recognized such authority in a case in which the Washington Attorney General

was one of the plaintiffs in a multistate case:

That a state as parens patriae may sue to redress a violation of the antitrust laws is well
established. Georgia v. Pennsylvania R. Co., 324 U.S. 439, 450-51 (1945) (conspiracy in
violation of antitrust laws is a wrong “of grave public concern in which Georgia has an
interest apart from that of particular individuals who may be affected”). There must, of
course, be antitrust injury for an injunction to be granted. Cargill, Inc. v. Monfort of
Colorado, Inc., 479 U.S. 104, 109- 16, (1986).  Each state here asserts its “quasi-sovereign
interest in the health and well-being--both physical and economic--of its residents in
general.” Alfred L. Snapp & Son, Inc. 458 U.S. at 607. That interest makes each state “more
than a nominal party.” Id. The state's interest in preventing harm to its citizens by antitrust
violations is, indeed, a prime instance of the interest that the parens patriae can vindicate
by obtaining damages and/or an injunction.  Id. at 605.

In re Insurance Antitrust Litig., 938 F.2d 919, 927 (9th Cir. 1991) (emphasis added), aff’d in part and



9 The Attorney General of Washington also  acts to benefit injured consumers pursuant to authority contained in

Wash. Rev. Code Ann. § 19.86.080 (West 1989). This statutory provision grants the Washington Attorney General

authority to bring an enforcement action to enjoin a violation of Washington’s antitrust laws, and further provides

that courts may make orders necessary to restore to any person in interest money or property, when such money or

property was acquired by a violation of Washington’s antitrust laws. In Blewett v. Abbott Laboratories, 86 Wn. App.

782 , 790, 938 P.2d 842, (Div. 1(1997), rev. denied 133 W n. 2d 1029, the court noted that “direct purchasers and the

attorney general are the  enforcers of antitrust law in W ashington.”

10 Arkansas is deleted and Massachusetts is added to the list in Lorazepam .  Arkansas continues to act secondarily as

a class representative.  See note 3 supra .
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rev’d in part on other grounds sub nom. Hartford Fire Insurance Co v. California, 509 U.S. 764

(1993).

Washington case law also recognizes the Attorney General’s authority to bring common law

claims to protect the public interest and common law parens patriae claims in other areas of law.

See Reiter v. Wallgren, 28 Wn.2d 872, 880 (1947) (while the Attorney General may represent state

officers, it still remains his paramount duty to protect the interests of the people of the state); State

v. Taylor, 58 Wash.2d 252, 255-56 (1961) (“[I]t is generally recognized in this country that the

authority of parens patriae is exercised by the Attorney General”); Washington Utilities & Transp.

Comm‘n v. FTC, 513 F.2d 1142 (9th Cir. 1975) (authorizing WUTC to proceed as parens patriae).

Thus, the Attorney General has the authority to bring common law claims on behalf of the public

and its citizens for appropriate relief, including damages. This common law authority is in addition

to the authority specifically granted under the Unfair Business Practices-Consumer Protection Act,

R.C.W. 1 9.86.9

States Proceeding under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23

Attorneys General of the States of Connecticut, Georgia, Indiana, Massachusetts,10

Nebraska, Oklahoma, and South Carolina vindicate consumer citizens’ claims in a representative

capacity pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. Pro. 23.


